
Charter Township of Kalamazoo 1 

Minutes of a Planning Commission Meeting 2 
Held on January 7, 2016 3 

 4 
A regular meeting of the Kalamazoo Charter Township Planning Commission was 5 
conducted on January 7, 2016 commencing at 7:00 p.m. at the Township Hall.   6 
 7 
 Present were:  8 

 Chairman Robert VanderKlok 9 
 Henry Dingemans 10 
 Robert Talbot 11 
 Sarah Milne 12 
 Bill Chapman 13 

 Charles Rothrock 14 
 Steve Leuty 15 

 16 

 Absent were: None 17 
 18 
Also present were Township Zoning Administrator Nathan Mehmed, Township Attorney 19 

Roxanne Seeber and 8 additional interested persons.   20 
 21 

Call to Order 22 
 23 
The chairman called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  24 

 25 

Roll call and Recognition of Visitors 26 

 27 
The chairman noted that all members were present.  He recognized Mehmed, Seeber 28 

and 8 visitors.  29 
 30 

Approval of the meeting minutes for December 3 and 9, 2015     31 

 32 
The draft minutes of the December 3, 2015 Planning Commission meeting had been 33 

distributed to the members in their packets.  Dingemans desired a change to page 3 to 34 
more clearly indicate that the coop and pen together were proposed to be no more than 35 
80 square feet in size.   Rothrock noted a grammatical error on page 3.  Both were 36 

changed and handwritten into the minutes at the meeting.   Upon motion by Chapman, 37 
supported by Rothrock, the minutes were unanimously approved as corrected.   38 

 39 
The draft minutes of the December 9, 2015 Planning Commission meeting had been 40 

distributed to the members in their packets.   Rothrock suggested a change to the 41 
manufactured housing sentence that he was paraphrased in on page 2.   Upon motion 42 
of Leuty, supported by Milne, the December 9, 2015 Planning Commission meeting 43 
minutes were unanimously approved as amended.    44 

  45 



2 
 

Approval of meeting agenda 1 

 2 
VanderKlok suggested moving the election of officers to item 7c. Upon motion of Milne, 3 

supported by Rothrock, the agenda was unanimously approved as amended.  4 
VanderKlok pointed out the agenda for the January 13, 2016 meeting, which had been 5 
placed on the table, along with paperwork for that meeting for the members of the 6 
planning commission to take with them.    7 
 8 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 9 
 10 

1. KPEP, 537 Chicago Avenue  11 
 12 
The next item on the agenda was the request of Kalamazoo Probation Enhancement 13 

Program (KPEP), 537 Chicago Avenue, to increase the number of beds from 121 to 14 
160.    Bill DeBoer introduced Jeff Crites from Slocum Architects, who had prepared the 15 

plan.   DeBoer indicated that KPEP had been operating at the Chicago Street location 16 

for six years.   The building was initially set up to allow both males and females, with the 17 
likelihood of higher numbers of male residents.  The male population comes out of the 18 
local federal and state courts.  The program teaches employability skills and 19 

reintegration.   Their women’s program, which includes a drug treatment, cognitive and 20 
behavioral programs, has seen a significant population increase.  KPEP has recently 21 

purchased a couple of nearby houses.  22 
 23 
In response to an inquiry from Dingemans, DeBoer indicated that the program 24 

participants have release privileges, but they must sign out and their times away are 25 

documented.   DeBoer introduced Jamie Witzenburg, program director and Jason 26 

McCune, operations director at the Chicago Street location.  DeBoer indicated that he 27 
has worked with the Township and the police department in providing community 28 

service programs, such as snow shoveling.    29 
 30 
In response to an inquiry from Rothrock, DeBoer confirmed that the footprint of the 31 

building and the room arrangements had not changed at all.   The drawing would need 32 
to be updated to establish the number of proposed beds in each room if the increase in 33 

population was approved.   Each person would have a gross minimum of 25 square feet 34 
of unencumbered area which meets or exceeds the corrections industry standard for 35 
space per individual.    36 

 37 
Milne was concerned that the original population approval number had been exceeded.  38 

DeBoer indicated that the 160-beds being requested would be the limit.  Much of the 39 
increase in population was for women’s services, which are being funneled from other 40 

Michigan counties that do not have sufficient numbers of women needing services to 41 
justify the expense of a program.   Milne stated that she had spoken to neighbors and 42 
some of them were afraid to leave their houses because of the KPEP population.     43 
 44 
DeBoer stated that the property was purchased from the Borgess nursing home.   In 45 
response to an inquiry from Chapman,  Mehmed stated that he had received no 46 



3 
 

complaints.   Further, he said, the fire department had conducted an inspection and it 1 

was satisfied that the population increase was not troublesome.   2 
 3 

 Chapman inquired as to whether there were up to 120 people in the facility out on the 4 
streets looking for work.   DeBoer responded that a portion of that number was always 5 
out looking for work; however, it depended on where the individual was in their 6 
particular program.  There were not 120 people spilling out of the building each day 7 
looking for work.    8 

 9 
Milne inquired about parking.  Mehmed responded that there was more than enough 10 
parking and the number of spaces provided far exceeds that required by the zoning 11 
ordinance.  DeBoer stated that parking has never been a problem, partially due to the 12 
unique nature of their activities.   Most residents do not have vehicles and there are no 13 

visitors permitted.  The parking would be needed for staff and volunteers, mostly. Leuty 14 
recalled visiting his grandmother when she was at the nursing home facility in that 15 

building. At that time parking was always a problem, he said.   He had been to the 16 

property earlier in the day and did not observe any problems.  He felt that the KPEP use 17 
of the facility was advantageous to the township and to the neighborhood.   Leuty 18 
favorably recalled some experience he had with utilizing KPEP workers on projects.  In 19 

response to an inquiry from Leuty, DeBoer indicated that most of the men are fed in 20 
from Kalamazoo County courts, but many of the women are from other counties.   Leuty 21 

was not concerned about the density within the rooms, indicating that it was part of 22 
teamwork and learning to work together.  DeBoer noted that there is one huge dining 23 
room used for gathering; another dining room that is not used for food service; and that 24 

each sex has its own contained inner courtyard.    25 

 26 

In response to an inquiry from Dingemans, DeBoer stated that the length of stay varies, 27 
but it is usually about 90 days.   Some stays can be 8 to 10 months in length, he said.   28 

DeBoer commented that Chief Bourgeois is on the KPEP board and that crime in the 29 
area had been reduced since they have been occupying the building.   In response to 30 
an inquiry from Chapman, DeBoer indicated that probably 400 individuals went through 31 

the facility during 2015.    Talbot recalled using some of the female residents for 32 
community service projects in the past.  DeBoer indicated that community service 33 

requirements were part of the most of the programs.     34 
 35 
The chairman opened a public hearing.   Patty Langworthy 553 Fenimore lives across 36 

the street.  She has never had a problem with anyone from the facility.  Those that she 37 
does see coming and going are friendly and polite.   Tom and Denna Miller, 708 38 

Chicago supported the program and the population expansion request.  He indicated 39 
that he can see the facility from his front porch.  The program is phenomenal and 40 

professionally run.    41 
 42 
In response to an inquiry from VanderKlok, De Boer stated that the Olmstead Road 43 
facility was still in use, as was the outpatient program at Park Street.  Both facilities 44 
have only male residents.    DeBoer indicated that some residents use bicycles and that 45 
racks are provided.   Rothrock moved, supported by Milne to grant the special exception 46 



4 
 

use approval for a population increase to 120 in the KPEP facility on Chicago Avenue 1 

pending receipt of sealed plans with numbers of beds in each room, which should be 2 
signed by the applicant and the Planning Commission chairperson with the date of 3 

approval thereon and kept at the Township Hall.    The motion passed unanimously.   4 
 5 

 2.   Public hearing on text amendments for chickens 6 
 7 
The next matter on the agenda was a public hearing on the proposed ordinance 8 

amendment permitting up to four hens, under some conditions in all residential areas, 9 
including plats.   The chairman opened a public hearing on the request. Mehmed had 10 
drafted an ordinance.   Leuty provided copies of it to members of the audience.   11 
VanderKlok thanked Mehmed and stated that the proposed ordinance appeared to 12 
reflect the planning commission’s prior discussions.   13 

 14 
Leuty suggested a change to section 1A to more clearly delineate that the chickens 15 

needed to be in the rear yard.   Seeber suggested some wording for the paragraph.   16 

The group discussed the feasibility of dictating the types of materials to be used for 17 
construction of the coop.    The proposed ordinance was not amended as to this point.    18 
Rothrock reiterated VanderKlok’s approval of Mehmed’s effort.   19 

  20 
Patty Langworthy 553 Fenimore voiced concerns over animal care, the potential for 21 

disease and noise.    She did not think chickens were appropriate in residential districts, 22 
particularly where the houses were close together. She expressed further concerns 23 
about vermin and the potential spread of disease.      Heather Frayer 127 N Berkley 24 

indicated that she had chickens in her yard in the past.  She said raising chickens is an 25 

amazing experience.  There is no problem with disease and they required only a 26 

minimal amount of care.  She used the chicken droppings for compost.   The chickens 27 
give eggs and add to the compost pile.  She teaches nutrition education and there is a 28 

push for locally-grown food.  She supports a local food system and “food sovereignty”.    29 
The chickens, she said, are less noisy than the dogs on her block.  They cluck softly 30 
and it is amazing to have fresh eggs.   Frayer stated that she knows at least 12 families 31 

in the City of Kalamazoo that have chickens, which is basically an eco-system in the 32 
back yard.  She felt that there should not be a limit on the number of chickens. Most 33 

people, she said, want to be good neighbors and will not overpopulate.  However, there 34 
is a certain amount of loss related to having chickens.  You might start with 12 but end 35 
up with only four.  She asked the Planning Commission to be lenient with their number. 36 

She stated that the chickens do not cluck after dusk.  In response to an inquiry from 37 
Milne, Frayer confirmed that she presently does have chickens.  Milne was concerned 38 

that Frayer’s chickens had gotten out of the pen and that at least one had been killed by 39 
a dog.   Frayer indicated that the chicken killed by a dog was in her pen at the time.    40 

    41 
Rothrock reviewed the ordinance and indicated that section “E” seemed to address 42 
most of the issues that were of concern.   Also, he stated, the township has a noise and 43 
nuisance ordinance which could be used if needed.  VanderKlok indicated that the 44 
amendment was a move to allow chickens in platted areas.  It would also limit those in 45 
non-platted areas that presently have chickens to abide by the terms of the ordinance. 46 



5 
 

VanderKlok indicated that the Planning Commission had done a great deal of studying 1 

and he felt that permitting four chickens was adequate.    Leuty recalled that only the 2 
City of Kalamazoo allowed chickens several years ago when the Planning Commission 3 

first took up the chicken issue.    Over the years, the cities of Portage and Parchment 4 
had added them.  There are some communities that allow chickens in residential areas 5 
and others that do not.    The chairman closed the public hearing.    6 
 7 
Rothrock moved, supported by Leuty to recommend adoption of the chicken ordinance 8 

amendment, as amended at the public hearing, to the Township Board for adoption.   9 
The motion passed 6-1 with Milne voting in the negative.    10 
 11 
Election of officers 12 
 13 

VanderKlok noted that an entirely new township zoning ordinance should be approved 14 
in the summer.  That ordinance would change some of the activities undertaken by the 15 

Zoning Board of Appeals to the Planning Commission.   There may be some individuals 16 

that wish to switch from the ZBA to the PC and vise-versa.    Chapman moved, 17 
supported by Leuty to retain the current slate of officers as follows: Chairman 18 
VanderKlok; Vice-Chairman Dingemans; Secretary Talbot.  The motion passed 19 

unanimously.   20 
 21 

Correspondence  22 
 23 
VanderKlok had received duplicate information on gas pipelines at his house and the 24 

township.  He left the copies out for planning commissioners that might be interested.   25 

 26 

Township Board Representative Report 27 
 28 

Leuty updated the Planning Commission on the adoptions of the single waste hauler 29 
ordinance, the bid process; and the awarding of the contract to Republic Services.  The 30 
goals of the program, he said were partly to control costs and partly to reduce the 31 

number of trucks on the roads.   Talbot inquired as to whether other trucks could also be 32 
controlled, such as UPS and mail service trucks. Leuty indicated that was not possible, 33 

because there was no statutory authority for the Township controlling those types of 34 
uses.  35 
 36 

Leuty also reported on a new contract with the KTPOA, which had been approved by 37 
the police officer’s union and the Township Board.   He outlined a change to the 38 

Township’s management style wherein the board had voted to appoint a manager and a 39 
financial director and to put the supervisor, clerk and treasurer onto part-time status.  40 

This, he said, would allow more continuity in the face of board changes, but would also 41 
make the board work harder at making sure that their hired individuals are doing the job. 42 

  43 



6 
 

ZBA Report 1 

 2 
VanderKlok reported that there was no ZBA meeting in December.  One was scheduled 3 

for January to elect officers.  The other item on the ZBA agenda had been delayed at 4 
the request of the applicant, Mehmed said.   VanderKlok checked the bylaws of the ZBA 5 
and it was determined that a meeting was required, if only to elect officers.    6 
 7 
Planning Commissioner Comments  8 

 9 
Chapman expressed dismay that he did not yet have a nameplate.   VanderKlok 10 
indicated that Mehmed also needed one.    11 
 12 
Milne expressed frustration that the Planning Commission was pushed into adopting the 13 

chicken ordinance.  There are a number of property owners in the Township that have 14 
been raising chickens regardless of what the ordinance says.  Rothrock indicated that 15 

there seems to be an enforcement issue with the zoning ordinance, wherein it appears 16 

that there are a number of special uses operating that never received approval, or that 17 
are outside of the approvals that were granted.   The groups discussed the logistics of 18 
ordinance enforcement and recommended to the Township Board that the Ordinance 19 

Enforcement Officer position should be made full time.    20 
 21 

Approve Meeting Dates 22 
 23 
Rothrock moved, supported by Milne to approve the 2016 meeting dates.  The motion 24 

passed unanimously.    25 

 26 

There being no additional business to come before the Planning Commission, upon 27 
motion of Milne, supported by Rothrock and unanimous approval, the meeting was 28 

adjourned at 8:30 p.m.   29 
 30 

Synopsis of Actions 31 

Township Planning Commission 32 
Meeting of January 7, 2016 33 

 34 
At its meeting of January 7, 2016 the Kalamazoo Charter Township 35 
Planning Commission took the following actions:  36 

 37 
--approved population expansion to 160 beds for the KPEP facility located 38 

at 537 Chicago Street within the Township;  39 
--recommended adoption of text amendment that allows up to four 40 

chickens (hens) in residential zoning districts; 41 
--appointed VanderKlok as Chairperson, Dingemans as vice-chairperson 42 
and Talbot as secretary of the Planning Commission;  43 
--recommended making the Ordinance Enforcement Officer position full 44 
time, in order to allow for zoning enforcement.  45 
 46 



7 
 

Date minutes prepared:  January 11, 2016 1 

Date minutes approved:  February ___, 2016  2 
 3 

 4 
       Respectfully Submitted,  5 
 6 
 7 
 8 

       Robert Talbot, Secretary  9 


